x
=[] )
=

Grand T G

Gold Holdings Ltd.

GRAND T G GOLD HOLDINGS LIMITED
AEESERBRAA"

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

(7 bR 2 B s s 2 2 A R A ] )

(Stock Code B #L%% : 8299)




AEEESERERDA

TN CETEFR

CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED (THE
“STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate
small and mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk
may be attached than other companies listed on the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential
risks of investing in such companies and should make the
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and
mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on
GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than
securities traded on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and
no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and
expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part
of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors of Grand T G Gold Holdings
Limited (the “Company”) collectively and individually accept full
responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange
(the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information with
regard to the Company and its subsidiaries (together, the “Group”).
The directors of the Company (the “Directors”), having made all
reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their knowledge and
belief the information contained in this report is accurate and
complete in all material respects and not misleading or deceptive, and
there are no other matters the omission of which would make any
Statement herein or this report misleading.

This report will remain on the “Latest Listed Company Information”
page of the GEM website at www.hkgem.com for at least seven days
from the date of its publication and on the website of the Company at
http.//www.grandtg.com/.

The English text of this report shall prevail over the Chinese text in
case of inconsistencies.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERERE

The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company, together with
its subsidiaries, hereby presents the Company’s annual report for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

2019 was a challenging year, affected by the ongoing China-US trade
dispute, the slowdown of the gold mining operations resulting from
the environmental inspections and demand for environmental
improvement by the government in the Mainland China, the slowed
world economy growth and uncertainties experienced in China’s
economy development. In particular, the outbreak of Novel
Coronavirus in January 2020 not only forced our operation into a shut
down but also severely affected the business of our customers. Its
adverse impacts to the business environment in which the Company
operates is expected to last in the months to come. Furthermore, the
Company continues to face litigations for which the Company has
valid ground to defend. These cases however have seriously affected
the Company’s ability to execute its development plan. Despite of the
challenges, the Company is committed to its corporate strategic
business objective of becoming high standard mining company with
high efficiency and improving its competitiveness and financial
performance over time, through both organic growth at the
Company’s operating subsidiary and through acquisitions and new
business ventures. With the support of our shareholders and other
stakeholders, the Board will continue to work toward achieving the
Company’s growth and development objective.

Looking forward to 2020, in the backdrop of the economy
uncertainties by the China-US trade dispute and also the continual
effect of Novel Coronavirus epidemic, the Group is expected to face a
number of challenges ahead in 2020.

The Group will continue with utmost effort in fending off legal
challenges, minimizing disturbances caused to the Company and
moving into execution of the business development plan and growth
of business. We will work hard towards improving the Company’s
asset scale and quality as well as financial performance over time.
Meanwhile, the Group will look for new potential growth opportunities
in a very diligent manner through merger and acquisition, business
integration and expansion in order to improve the profitability of the
Group and the returns to the shareholders.

On behalf of the Board

Li Dahong
Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in gold exploration, mining and
mineral processing with gold concentrate as its product.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (the “Year”), the Group’s revenue
was approximately HK$69.6 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 57.5% from approximately HK$163.8 million as

compared with that of the last year.

The decrease in revenue was due to the slowdown of the gold mining
operations resulting from the environmental inspections and demand
for environmental improvement, the closure of mining operations due
to Novel Coronavirus, and the impacts of Novel Coronavirus to our
customers.

The revenue for the third quarter of our financial year was based on
the achieved sales with our long-time customer. However, this
customer informed the Company in February 2020 to cancel the
sales and to return the purchased goods to us in wake of the sudden
outbreak of Novel Coronavirus epidemics and a very high level of
uncertainties thus generated. While objecting such position at the
time on commercial grounds, with the prolonging and worsening
situation beyond anyone’s control, the Company eventually agreed
with the cancellation request and to have the sold goods returned to
the Company. However, the tightly controlled the transportation
network in the Mainland especially in remote country areas where the
Company mine operate, return of the sold goods has been a difficult
process in the first few months of 2020.

In light of the above circumstances, the sales and the respective cost
of sales have been derecognized. The Company has been in active
and continuous liaison with the customer for full return of the goods
or retake the sales but either way will be no later the end of July
2020.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Gross profit and gross profit margin

During the Year, the Group’s gross profit was approximately HK$17.9
million, representing a decrease of approximately 77.0% from
approximately HK$77.5 million as compared with that of the last year.
During the Year, the Group’s overall gross profit margin was
approximately 25.7% (year ended 31 March 2019: 47.3%).

The decrease in gross profit margin was due to the failure to reach
economies of scale after the decrease in revenue. The cost of
deprecation were fixed which would not affected by the decrease in

revenue.

Selling and distribution expenses

During the Year, the Group’s selling and distribution expenses were
approximately HK$3.4 million, representing a decrease of
approximately 30.9% from approximately HK$4.9 million as

compared with that of the last year.

Administrative expenses

During the Year, the Group’s administrative expenses were
approximately HK$37.0 million, representing an increase of
approximately 13.3% from approximately HK$32.7 million as

compared to the last year.

Loss for the year

Consolidated loss of the Company amounted to approximately
HK$38.8 million for the Year (2019: consolidated profit in the sum of
approximately HK$7.8 million).

For the Year, the Group has recorded a net loss attributable to equity
holders of the Company of approximately HK$35.2 million, as
compared to profits of approximately HK$0.03 million recorded at the
last year. This was mainly due to the temporary closure of the mining
operation of the Group in early 2020 as well as the adverse impact to
our customers due to Novel Coronavirus epidemic and also the slow
down of the gold mining operations resulting from the environmental
inspections and demand for environmental improvement by the

government in Mainland China.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Loss per share
Loss per share was approximately HK cents 2.35 for the Year (2019:

earning of approximately HK cents 0.0).

Dividend
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2019: nil).

Liquidity, financial resources and funding

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$2.1 million (2019: approximately
HK$2.2 million) and net current liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$127.5 million (2019: net current liabilities of approximately
HK$96.9 million) whereas inventories of the Group amounted to

approximately HK$8.2 million (2019: approximately HK$8.1 million).

As at 31 March 2020, the current ratio is approximately 0.17 (2019:
approximately 0.24).

As at 31 March 2020, the Group’s gearing ratio was approximately
52.0% (2019: approximately 49.3%), calculated based on total

borrowings over total assets.

Borrowings
Borrowings information of the Group is set out in note 24 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Capital structure

On 17 July 2017, the Company issued convertible bonds with an
aggregate principal amount of HK$30,095,357 to J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited (the “Third Subscriber”) under the convertible
bonds subscription agreement dated 10 April 2017. The subscription
monies payable by the Third Subscriber for the convertible bonds
was settled by way of set off against the debt due by the Company to
the Third Subscriber.

As at 31 March 2020, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$89,807,000 which were divided into 1,496,782,160 Shares of
HK$0.06 each.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Capital commitment
As at 31 March 2020, the Group did not have any significant capital

commitments (2019: nil).

Charge on the Group’s assets

As at 31 March 2020, security over inventory as collateral for the
Group’s long term loans was released and that the financier received
the Group’s rights of payments from its customers as collateral of the
Group’s operating subsidiary, E B % AMBEEXE B R E £ 2 7
Tongguan Taizhou Mining Company Limited” (“Taizhou Mining”).

As at 31 March 2020, the security over inventories of the Group was

released (2019: approximately HK$19.5 million).

Treasury policies

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are principally
denominated in HKS$, Renminbi (‘RMB”). Foreign exchange risk arises
from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and

liabilities.

The Group adopted a conservative treasury policy with most of the
bank deposits being kept in HK$ or RMB, or in the local currencies of
the operating subsidiaries to minimise exposure to foreign exchange
risk. The Group monitors and maintains a sufficient level of cash and
cash equivalents to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuation in cash flows. Management reviews and

monitors the Group’s working capital requirements regularly.

Segment information
The Group’s segmental information is set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

Exposure to exchange risks

Since the Group’s borrowings and its source of income are primarily
denominated in the respective group companies functional currency
which are mainly in Hong Kong dollars or Renminbi, the exposure to

foreign exchange rate fluctuations is minimal.

*

For identification purpose only
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Significant investment, material acquisition and disposal of
subsidiaries and affiliated companies, and future plans for
material investments or capital assets

The Group did not have any significant investment, material
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries and affiliated companies

throughout the Year.

In addition, the Company is now focusing on developing and
strengthening its existing business and will explore investment
opportunities in order to broaden the income stream of the Group,
enrich its reserves and resources, enhance the profitability of the
Group and eventually bring a fruitful return to the shareholders of the

Group.

Contingent liabilities
The Group did not have any material contingent liabilities as at 31
March 2020 and 31 March 2019.

Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had 65 employees (2019: 59)
situated mainly in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and
Hong Kong. The Group’s emoluments policies are formulated based
on industry practices and performance of individual employees. For
the Year, the total staff costs (including directors’ emoluments)
amounted to approximately HK$20.6 million (2019: approximately
HK$12.4 million). Details of employees’ remuneration are set out in

note 9 of the consolidated financial statements.

Relationships with employees, customers and suppliers
Employees

The Directors are of the view that its employees are the keys to the
sustainable development of the Group. The Directors believe that the
Group maintains good working relations with its employees and

endeavors to maintain and improve the quality of its products.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEENWR DN

Customers and Suppliers

The Group aims to provide comprehensive solutions that meet
customers’ needs and establish a comprehensive vertical supply
chain management system through resource integration and supplier

screening and management.

The objectives of the Group are to deepen the collaborative
relationship with the strategic suppliers and to create competitive
advantages in the value chain, thereby aiming to enhance the impact
on the society and environment and to ensure that their suppliers
uphold similar stance in sustainability. The Group maintains long-term

relationship with its suppliers for ensuring stable supply.

PROSPECT
Looking forward to 2020, in the backdrop of the economy

uncertainties by the China-US trade dispute, the continual effect of
Novel Coronavirus epidemic and other macroeconomic and policy
factors, the Group is expected to face a number of challenges ahead
in 2020. The Group will continue with utmost effort in fending off legal
challenges, minimizing disturbances caused to the Company and
moving into execution of the business development plan and growth
of business. The Company will continue working hard to improve the
Company’s asset scale and quality as well as financial performance
over time. In addition to organic growth from the company existing
business, the Group will look for new potential growth opportunities in
a very diligent manner through merger and acquisition, business
integration and expansion in order to improve the profitability of the

Group and the returns to the shareholders.

MINERAL EXPLORATION, MINE DEVELOPMENT
AND ORE MINING ACTIVITIES

Mineral Exploration and Mine Development

During the Year, Taizhou Mining mainly completed certain mining
development projects, including the excavation of approximately
8,489 meters of various tunnels, excavation of approximately 679
meters of slope supporting, excavation of approximately 1,018
meters of ore chute as well as excavation of approximately 2,547

meters for track laying and ditches.

BEFERHKER

AEESHERTEEMOBRT RAMEEPNE
2 WEEEREAMMERMEEREERY —
EXENEEHEREERLR -

AEEN B RERARCARBEHEEHNSIEREL
BYRNEBERETOGFEY  EMEALE LR
BRENNREBHEDN A FHER R ERTA
A28 - AR EREEH AR RBBEEURE
REHE -

Al

RE-_Z_ZTF  HEPXBHAUH  FRERRE
SRENFEZEANAMZBRBEMBER AR
EENKETEEENSERT  AEEEME—
Z_TFEEBGRZUE - AREREETERN
MMAELEREL R BERDHAREEERDN TE
NIEERTERERZA B NEBIER - AQF]
KENEREARRINEERRREEBARMH
KB - BARARBEBHERIERSI - KNEH
R SEEMEBHE  FHBEA RBRERHT
BEERMEE  WESAKENAF N MR
[B] &

BEBK BEBERBAMK
SEE

BEMRREERR

RAFE  AMNBEXZEZRRSESERELD
8,489 K ~ R BIEHELI679K « ABEHIBELD
1,018 K K 8 2% B 8 M /KB 12 492,547 K E &
EFEIR-



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the Year, the Group’s total expenditure for the mine

development and mineral exploration amounted to approximately

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

EEENWR DN

HK$61.0 million and approximately HK$O respectively.

Ore Mining

During the Year, the aggregate expenditure on the ore mining

operation of the Group was approximately HK$11.9 million.

RESOURCES AND RESERVES

Based on the findings of the report prepared by Ravia Global

Appraisal Advisory Limited pursuant to JORC Code 2012:

1. As of 31 March 2020, using a gold cut-off grade of 1.0 gram per

tonne, the indicated resource and inferred resource of the Group
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Be/ WERMUFE -
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were: REREHERER -
Contained
Inventory Grade metal
7E m eEtl
(gram per (kilogram,
(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)
(FHg) (Z&W #2%) (Fz &)
Indicated resource EHERE 1,806 7.82 13,967
Inferred resource HEERE 1,555 6.6 10,260

2. As at 31 March 2020, under a cut-off grade of 1.9 gram per

tonne, the estimated probable reserves of the Group were:

2. HE-_Z-_ZHF=F=1+—H RBE19%

Be / MARBMUFE  AEEGFTER

REER
Contained
Inventory Grade metal
rE @i et
(gram per (kilogram,
(kilotonne) tonne, gold) gold)
(Fmg) (Z&W #2%) (Fz #5z)
Probable reserves inventory BAREERE 1,654 5.74 8,919
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Dr. Li Dahong (“Dr. Li”)

Dr. Li, aged 62, joined the Company as an executive Director on 24
February 2016 and is also the chairman and the authorized
representative of the Company. Dr. Li also serves as a director of
SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining Asia
Limited, all being subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 20 years
of experience in investment banking, mergers and acquisitions and
other financial activities. Dr. Li was graduated from Tsinghua
University in civil and environmental engineering and received a
degree in Doctor of Philosophy in Civil Engineering from the University

of Toronto, Canada.

Ms. Ma Xiaona (“Ms. Ma”)

Ms. Ma, aged 45, was appointed as a non-executive Director of the
Company on 24 March 2016 and is a member of the remuneration
committee and nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Ma was
re-designated as an executive Director and the compliance officer of
the Company on 13 September 2017, and was also appointed as a
director of SSC Mandarin Mining Investment Limited and T G Mining
Asia Limited, wholly-owned subsidiaries of the Company. Ms. Ma
graduated from East China University of Science and Technology in
Shanghai with a Bachelor’s degree in International Trade. She has
more than 20 years of experience in project financing, joint ventures
and mergers and acquisitions in China and Hong Kong, involving in
industries such as gold mining, other resources mining, traditional

manufacturing, and high-tech industry.
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Ms. Wang Hongyin (“Ms. Wang”)

Ms. Wang, aged 45, joined the Company as an executive Director on
18 December 2017, majored in Certified Public Accountant in Finance
and Economic Institute of Tianjin (currently known as Tianjin University
of Finance and Economics) and obtained a Bachelor Degree in
economics in 1997 and a Master of Science Degree in Financial
Analysis from Hong Kong University of Science and Technology in
2010. Ms. Wang is currently attending the EMBA Joint Degree jointly
set up by Guanghua School of Management of Peking University and
Kellogg School of Management of Northwestern University, the
United States. Ms. Wang has rich experience in audit, investment,

business development and assets management.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Guo Wei (“Mr. Guo”)

Mr. Guo, aged 65, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 28 April 2016. He is also the chairman of
the nomination committee and remuneration committee and a
member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Guo graduated
from Beijing Institute of Economic Research, majoring in Chinese
Language and Literature (undergraduate) in 1999. Since 2004, he has
been served as the chairman of the board of 3T i 2% & AR A &
(Zhejiang Ruifeng Investment Company Limited*). He worked in the
WL & B E #2 & 5Bt (Survey and Design Institute of Post and
Telecommunications in Zhejiang Province®) from 1977 to 1987. He
worked in the Zhejiang Provincial Government Office in Guangzhou
and A B F £ & 2 7] (Grand Southeast Group Corporation*) from
1988 to 1994. He worked as the general manager of #1)M E  BIFR
FBJE (Hangzhou Nanwang International Hotel®) and the chairman of
the board of #1 Il 7 & & & A A (Hangzhou Wuyun Investment
Company*) from 1995 to 2004. Mr. Guo has been engaged in
management for more than 30 years, including 20 years as the head
of enterprises, during which he gains extensive management

experience and strong coordination ability.

*
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Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (“Mr. Lam”)

Mr. Lam, aged 64, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 8 December 2017. He is also the chairman of
the audit committee of the Company, a member of the nomination
committee and remuneration committee of the Company. He is a
member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England &
Wales, Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Hong Kong Securities
Institute, Society of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, Australia ¢ New
Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants, Taxation Institute of Hong
Kong and Certified Tax Adviser. Mr. Lam holds a Bachelor Degree in
Arts (Economics) from the University of Manchester, the United
Kingdom. Mr. Lam is currently an independent non-executive director
of Macrolink Capital Holdings Limited (formerly known as Junefield
Department Store Group Limited) (Stock Exchange Stock Code:
758). He was an independent non-executive director of OCI
International Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 329)
from 28 April 2010 to 7 May 2018. Mr. Lam currently is a partner of
Grand Thornton Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Lam had been head of
department in Southwest Securities International Securities Limited
(Stock Exchange Stock Code: 812). He was the former director and
Chief Executive Officer and is the shareholder of Jonten Hopkins CPA
Limited (the merger of former Aoba CPA Limited* (5 Z & &+EI S 757
and Albert Lam & Co. CPA). Mr. Lam was also the Managing Partner
and Founder of Albert Lam & Co. CPA.

*

For identification purpose only
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Mr. Cheung Wai Hung (“Mr. Cheung”)

Mr. Cheung, aged 38, joined the Company as an independent non-
executive Director on 27 August 2018. He is also a member of the
audit committee of the Company. He is a certified tax adviser of the
Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a certified public accountant of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. Mr. Cheung
graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University with an
honours degree in bachelor of arts in accountancy. He is currently
appointed as the chief financial officer of Wai Chi Holdings Company
Limited (Stock Exchange Stock Code: 1305). Mr. Cheng was
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Ye Xing
Group Holdings Limited (Stock Exchange Stock code: 1941) on 17
February 2020. He worked in Jonten Hopkins CPA Limited from July

2004 to March 2014 and his last position was audit manager.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”)

Mr. Ma, aged 62, has more than 30 years of senior management
experience in gold mining, exploration, ore processing, refining and
merger and acquisitions of mining companies in China. Mr. Ma is
currently a member of People’s Congress of Tongguan County,
Shaanxi Province, the PRC. Mr. Ma is the general manager and
director of Taizhou Mining. He had served as director of China Gold
Association and executive director of Gold Association of Shaanxi
Province. He had held senior management positions as the director
of the Small and Medium Entrepreneurs Association, Shaanxi
Province, PRC, and the President of the Small and Medium
Entrepreneurs Association of Weinan City, Shaanxi Province, the
PRC.

Ms. Eva Lee (“Ms. Lee”)

Ms. Lee was appointed as the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”) on 20 February 2020. She is admitted as
a solicitor in Hong Kong and focusing on capital markets and
corporate finance work. Ms. Lee graduated from the London School

of Economic and Political Science with Masters of Laws (Distinction).
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The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries

for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of
the principal activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set

out in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the Year and a
discussion on the Group’s future business development are provided
in the Chairman’s Statement and Management Discussion and
Analysis on pages 6 to 12 of this report. Possible risks and
uncertainties that the Group may be facing are set out in the Report
of the Directors on pages 17 to 20 of this report and the Corporate

Governance Report on pages 35 to 52 of this report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Fluctuation in the price of gold

The Directors consider that the price of gold in the PRC is highly
influenced by the price of gold in the international market (which is
denominated in the USD) and the exchange rate of the USD to RMB.
The Directors consider that there are many factors influencing the
price of gold in the international market, including global economic
situation, fiscal, monetary and trade policies of world major
economies which would eventually influence the exchange rates of
the USD, fluctuation in major stock markets, geo-political instability in
the international arena, all of which are beyond the control of the
Group. The fluctuation in gold price would affect significantly revenue
levels, cash flow and profitability of the Group. To mitigate and control
the risk, the Group would continue to make its constant effort in
controlling cash cost for production and overall cost for the Group
operation, monitoring closely the commaodity market and aligning its
production planning, growth strategy and capital expenditure with

projected market development to the extent possible.
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Investment risks

Investments in mineral exploration and mining have its inherent risks.
Significant capital expenditures are usually required in new exploration
and sustained mine development while the results particularly those
for exploration may not always be as expected or achieve the desired
levels of reliability for newly found mineral reserves and resources in
the timely fashion. The Group would mitigate and control such risks
by conducting proper risk assessment, using third party professionals
and experts and adopting the best practices in the industry, in
investment evaluation and decision-making process, including
carefully planned drilling and other exploration activities, mine

development and acquisition of quality mining assets.

Government regulations

The mining activities of the Group are subject to various government
policies, standards, permitting and regulations, all of which could
affect the Group’s operation. From time to time, there are government
initiatives for the mining industry such as mining right consolidation
which aims at creating larger mining areas from fragmented ones.
Furthermore, the process for review and extension of the existing
mining and exploration right permits, and review and approval of any
new mining and production facilities have become lengthy and costly
and with uncertainty. Even projects approved years ago and are
already under construction can be subject to review and approval
under a new set regulations and standards. The Group would mitigate
and control the risks by working closely with the government agencies
to negotiate the best deals in the consolidation program to protect
and maximize the Group’s interests. At the same time, the Group
monitors and follows the policy development closely and works on
the best effort basis ahead of the anticipated changes to be prepared

and to comply.
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Environmental Protection

The nationwide campaign for environmental protection has been
enhanced in the mining sector and promotion of green mines, under
the PRC national strategy for environmental protection. Virtually all
major mining regions in the country including the county where the
Group operates are part of this campaign. This involves permitting of
mining only at certain elevations, clear of any protective or natural
reserve areas and strict enforcement of pollution control standards,
minimizing adverse impacts of mining and processing activities to
their surrounding natural and social environments and to geology
stability, mitigating any adverse impacts form historical mining
activities and landscaping of the mine sites and surroundings in
particular, the Xiao Qinling mountains where the Company’s mine
operates, have received the attention for protection from the highest
level of the country leadership. Enforcement of environmental
protection has been beefed up in the PRC. A series of new provincial
and local notices, guidelines and other directors have been issued
over the reporting period, some of which targeted specifically to the
mining sector. Furthermore, a dedicated environmental inspection for
mining was carried out by a group dispatched by the Central
Government to the area where Taizhou Mine operates. During the
inspection period, the mine production was shut down per
government request. A series of requirements for improvement in
environmental protection in the region as well as all the mines were
raised as a result of the inspection. Enforcement of these
environmental policies and standards may cause an increase in
operating costs and any violation could result in interruption of the
Group’s normal production activities. The Group has a policy to
protect the natural and social environments and to be in full
compliance with all applicable policies and standards. The Group has

and will continue to take pre-active measures to ensure compliance.

Occurrence of Novel Coronavirus Epidemic

The recent occurrence of Novel Coronavirus epidemic in Mainland
China since January 2020, has increased uncertainties to the
economy in Mainland China in the coming year, which has already
been weakened by the US-China trade tension. If the development of
Novel Coronavirus epidemic persists or intensifies, the economy in
Mainland China and Hong Kong may be materially and adversely

affected.
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In such event, health safety risks during the occurrence of the Novel
Coronavirus may also lead to labour shortage, increase in wages of
the workers and/or closure or interruption of our gold mines, delaying
the work progress of our gold mining operation as a result. It has and
may continue to affect the operation of our customers which in turn
would affect on our sales. We may see reduced orders as a result.
These adverse impacts, if materialise and persist for a substantial
period, may significantly and adversely affect our business operation

and financial performance.

Financial Risks

The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. The Group
currently faces limited financial resources and for the time being its
net current liabilities are in the red, although there are no immediate
concerns for solvency due to the nature of its current liabilities. Failure
to obtain additional funding in a timely fashion however, may
adversely affect the Group’s operation and its development plan. The
Group is now actively engaged in fund raising, talking to several
interested investors/financiers, negotiating and comparing terms and
conditions, and trying to close fund raising soon to significantly
alleviate the current liability risks. Furthermore, the Group was
received a financial support commitment from a major shareholder to
cover the most needed financial obligation. At the same time, the
Group is finalizing and has started implementing the plan aiming at
boosting its mineral products throughput and thus revenue and net
profits by completing a new processing plant. The plan also includes
investment opportunities for acquisitions for quality mining assets.
The successful implementation of the plan would fundamentally
improve the Group’s financial position and address the current

liabilities concerns.

COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Group has
complied with all the relevant laws and regulations in Hong Kong in all

material respects for the business operations of the Group.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s environmental policies are to protect the natural and
social environment where the Group operates, to ensure full
compliance with all applicable regulatory requirements and standards,
and to be sustainable in the Group’s operations. The Group strives to
minimize potential adverse environmental impacts from its mining, ore
processing, tailing disposal and other production and operation
activities. This objective for protecting the environment during the
Group’s operations will be achieved by adopting effective and
proactive, where appropriate, measures, including but not limited to,
upfront impact assessment for any and all new projects, careful
planning and execution of production activities with considerations for
environmental protection, collection and treatment of waste from all
streams and sources, recycling and reuse of treated waste where
possible, minimization of environmental discharge, and endorsing

community participation and feedback, etc.

During the Year, the Group has not been the subject of any

environmental claims, lawsuits, penalties or disciplinary actions.

The environmental, social and governance report of the Company will
be announced on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
the Company’s website within three months after the publication of

the annual report of the Company.
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RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
62.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information of the Group is set out in note 5 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the
Year (2019: Nil).

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Company, is set out on page
184. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated

financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the Year

are set out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” and
“Convertible Bonds” of this report and note 27 and note 29(i) to the
consolidated financial statements, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s

articles of association and laws of the Cayman Islands.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the
year ended 31 March 2020 had been reviewed by the audit
committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) before they
were duly approved by the Board under the recommendation of the

Audit Committee.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates (as defined
in GEM Listing Rules) had an interest in a business which competes

or may compete with the business of the Group during the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 30 to the consolidated
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in

equity, respectively.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2020, there were no Company’s reserves available

for distribution to shareholders.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for approximately 100% of the total sales for the Year and
sales to the largest customer accounted for approximately 100%.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 100% of the total purchases for the Year and
purchases from the largest supplier accounted for approximately
58.6%.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates (as defined in
the GEM Listing Rules) or any shareholders (which, to the best
knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the Year.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong
Ms. Ma Xiaona

Ms. Wang Hongyin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

Each of Dr. Li Dahong, Ms. Ma Xiaona and Mr. Guo Wei, has entered

into a service contract with the Company for a term of 3 years

commencing from 13 September 2017.
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Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum, has entered into a service contract with the

Company for a term commencing from 8 December 2017.

Ms. Wang Hongyin has entered into a service contract with the

Company for a term commencing from 18 December 2017.

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung, has entered into a service contract with the

Company for a term commencing from 27 September 2018.

The term of service of a Director is subject to the provisions on
retirement by rotation of Directors as set out in the articles of

association of the Company.

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the annual
general meeting has an unexpired service agreement with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory

compensation.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT
The biographical details of Directors and senior management are set

out on pages 13 to 16.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract for the management and administration of the whole or
any substantial part of the business of the Company had been

entered into or existed during the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION
During the Year and up to the date of this report, the Company has in

force the permitted indemnity provisions which are provided for in the
articles of association of the Company and in the directors and
officers liability insurance maintained for the Group in respect of
potential liability and costs associated with legal proceedings that
may be brought against the Directors and the directors of the Group

respectively.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 11 to the

consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No Director nor entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or
contract of significance to which the Company or any of its

subsidiaries was a party during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2020, none of the Directors or chief executives of the
Company had any interests and short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) (the “SFO”) which were recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings set out in rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM
Listing Rules (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in the section “Directors’ and Chief Executives’
interests and short positions in Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures” above and in the “Share Option Scheme” disclosure in
note 28(ii) to the consolidated financial statements, at no time during
the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of Shares in or debentures of the Company granted to any Director or
their respective spouse or minor children, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company or any of its holding
companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any

other body corporate.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

So far as is known to any Director or chief executives of the
Company, as at 31 March 2020, the following persons (other than the
Directors and chief executives of the Company whose interests are
set out in the section “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and
short positions in Shares, underlying shares and debentures” above)
had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying shares
which were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
336 of the SFO:
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Number and class of securities

REQXTROREBRD TR

EHEE REH Approximate %
Underlying of the issued
Name Capacity Shares Shares Shares
HEBTRAZ
W EB g4 g HEBAR 2 BHAESE
Ma Qianzhou (“Mr. Ma”) Beneficial owner 200,730,224 - 13.41%
BN ([FEED EREAA -
Interest of spouse 22,508,800 - 1.50%
[ 2 (Note 1)
(Mtat1)
Zhao Yuebing Beneficial Owner 22,508,800 - 1.50%
B K EmEE A -
Interest of spouse 200,730,224 - 13.41%
[iRYER (Note 1)
(Htat1)
Lee Shing Interest in a controlled 106,893,333 - 7.14%
corporation (Note 2)
&) RPEHIA R AR (BHtst2)
Yong Li Investments Limited Beneficial owner 106,893,333 - 7.14%

KA EBR AR

EHmBEAA
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Number and class of securities

EBEFHBERER Approximate %
Underlying of the issued
Name Capacity Shares Shares Shares
HERITRGZ
wE/ LB 8 igv) HER D BMAOBE D
Wang Dong Interest in a controlled 86,244,800 - 5.76%
corporation (Note 3)
R REH ATz R (Btat3)
Midway International Holdings Beneficial owner 86,244,800 - 5.76%
Limited
PRBEIR IR AR AR EREBA
Zhou Yong Beneficial owner 116,666,666 - 7.79%
IBE= EHEBA
Leung Heung Ying Interest in a controlled 13,333,333 - 0.89%
corporation (Note 4)
RER St VNS o v (Ktata)
- 100,317,856 6.70%
(Note 6)
(#tite)
J. Thomson Asset Beneficial owner 13,333,333 - 0.89%
Investment Limited (Note 4)
BEREAA (Btat4)
- 100,317,856 6.70%
(Note 6)
(Kizte)
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Notes:

1. Mr. Ma is the spouse of Ms. Zhao Yuebing. Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao
Yuebing is accordingly deemed to be interested in the Shares beneficially
owned by each other under the SFO.

2. These Shares were held by Yong Li Investments Limited, a company
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. Lee Shing.

3. These Shares were held by Midway International Holdings Limited, a
company wholly and beneficially owned by Ms. Wang Dong.

4. This represents the subscription obligation of J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited pursuant to the shares subscription agreement dated
8 June 2017 entered into by the Company as the issuer and the J.
Thomson Asset Investment Limited as the subscriber.

5. This represents the subscription obligation of J. Thomson Asset
Investment Limited pursuant to the convertible bonds agreement dated
10 April 2017 entered into by the Company as the issuer and J.
Thomson Asset Investment Limited as the subscriber.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, the Company had
not been notified of any other person (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or short position in
the Shares or underlying shares which were required to be kept under
Section 336 of the SFO.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) was adopted

EEERE

by the Company on 4 March 2009 and was lapsed on 19 November

2019. The Company shall review the Share Option Scheme in due

course.

Movement of the share options granted by the Company pursuant to

the Share Option Scheme during the year are as follows:

Date of
Name or category grant of
of grantees share options
ERANEE RmBRE
&Rl )=t

Adjusted
Exercise
Price
(HKS)
mRE
THE
(&)

BREE
ARFRZTTNEF =AM A RME R 2
((WRESTE )  ZABR—F—AF+— 5
FAB KK o DR e AT B -

ARABRRNFEERIBBEARA IR B 2 BREE
T

Number of share options
BREHA
Share

Balance Granted Exercised consolidation Balance

Exercise as at during during during as at
Period 01.04.2019 the Year the Year theyear  31.03.2020
R=ZB-1%F R-B-%F

mA—A REFE REAFE RAEE =ZA=+-H

TEAM LR B BT BRGE 5 ko33

Substantial Shareholder

FERE
Mr. Ma Qianzhou 19/11/2009
LA bias

Spouse of Substantial
Shareholder

FERRES
Ms. Zhao Yuebing 19/11/2009
ek S

Employees In aggregate  19/11/2009
EEAF

Total
Fotas

1.71

1.71

1.71

19/11/2009- 35,540,100 - - - Nil
18/11/2019 z
(lapsed) (lapsed)
(BER) (BER)

19/11/2009- 6,581,500 - - - Nil
18/11/2019 z
(lapsed) (lapsed)
(BER) (BER)

19/11/2009- 25,667,850 - - - Nil
18/11/2019 z
(lapsed) (lapsed)
(B&%) (B&30)

67,789,450 - - - Nil
(lapsed)
(BEH)
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Note:
1. The share options granted are vested upon granted.

2. As aresult of the Open Offer of the Company, adjustments are required
to be made to the exercise prices and the number of the Shares falling
to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding share options in
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme,
Rule 23.03(13) of the GEM Listing Rules and the supplementary
guidance dated 5 September 2005 regarding the adjustments to share
options issued by the Stock Exchange. Details were set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 5 May 2017.

3. As aresult of the share consolidation of the Company, adjustments are
required to be made to the exercise prices and the number of the
Shares falling to be issued upon exercise of the outstanding share
options in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Share Option
Scheme, Rule 23.03(13) of the GEM Listing Rules and the
supplementary guidance dated 5 September 2005 regarding the
adjustments to share options issued by the Stock Exchange. Details
were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 5 March 2019.

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in

note 29(ii) to the consolidated financial statements.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial

statements.

The loans from Mr. Ma and Ms. Zhao Yuebing, directors of Taizhou
Mining and thus connected persons of the Group, to Taizhou Mining
were fully exempt connected transactions pursuant to Chapter 20 of
the GEM Listing Rules as these were conducted on normal
commercial terms or better and these were not secured by the assets

of the Group.
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The Directors consider that those material related party transactions
disclosed in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements did not
fall under the definition of “connected transactions” or “continuing
connected transactions” (as the case may be) in Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the
reporting, announcement or independent Shareholders’ approval
requirements under the GEM Listing Rules. The Directors confirmed
that the Company has complied with the requirements in accordance
with Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
included provident fund scheme, share option scheme as well as
discretionary bonuses. The determination of emoluments of the
directors of the Company had taken into consideration of their
respective experience, responsibilities in the Company and the

prevailing market conditions.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued Shares was held by the public as at the date

of this report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in note 40(iii) to the consolidated financial
statements and this report, the Directors are not aware of any
significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place subsequent

to 31 March 2020 end up to the date of approval of this report.

33

EERANEEVBRRMIBKE L ZFE
ABABLHITHAGEM LR AE20E (73
ERGIX[FE@EEZS] (REAME) ZE
# ' MAETGEM ETRANIBEB T EMEBR

NHBLRRIERTE - EFHRARRRDE
SPIRIE GEM LT AIZE 20 = 231 5F ©

FM R
AEEREEEZRE  KBRRENTHL
TREZHM - K EEEN BEAES
PR BIA R BB TEAL - BEAAA
HERREEE2EH REARZBER
R -

[

=

k

n
i
B # B g

o

ZRENARERE

$ETJ%$“ETJJ% FRREMEHEN RIEESAM
FARRBRRARE BB ETROBENE

9‘25%7]83@#"1%%_ °

WERER
BRAR A BT R IR 40 B A SR S P IR BB 2 41
R-B-BE= A=+ BREZAAEHED

B EREUTTABREEAATURBENERS
IE o



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EEERE

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the Year were audited by
McM (HK) CPA Limited.

McM (HK) CPA Limited was appointed as auditor to the Group on 3
April 2020 to fill the casual vacancy occasioned by the resignation of
Gl CPA Limited with effect from 2 April 2020. The reason for the
change of auditor was that GI CPA Limited no longer intended to
carry out accounting and audit services in Hong Kong and has
ceased to be a certified public accountant and Public Interest Entity

auditor with the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
McM (HK) CPA Limited term of office as auditor of the Company will

expire at end of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the

Company.

On behalf of the Board
Li Dahong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 30 June 2020
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company strives to attain and maintain the highest standard of
corporate governance as it believes that effective corporate
governance practices are fundamental to enhancing shareholder

value and safeguarding shareholder interests.

The principles of corporate governance adopted by the Group
emphasize a quality board, sound internal control, and transparency

and accountability to all its shareholders.

The Company has adopted the code provisions (the “Code
Provision(s)”) set out in the Corporate Governance Code and
Corporate Governance Report (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 15 to
the GEM Listing Rules and the Company had complied with all Code
Provisions as set out in the Code in the Year, except for the following

deviation:

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 of the Code stipulates that the roles of the
chairman and the chief executive should be separate and should not
be performed by the same individual. During the Year, the role of the
chairman of the Company is performed by Dr. Li, while the office of
the chief executive is vacated following the retirement of Mr. Feng Jun
on 11 September 2017. The Board will keep reviewing the current
structure of the Board from time to time and should candidate with
suitable knowledge, skill and experience be identified, the Company
will make appointment to fill the post of the chief executive as

appropriate.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding the
securities transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than
the Required Standard of Dealings. Having made specific enquiries of
all Directors, all Directors confirmed that they had complied with the
Required Standard of Dealings and the code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors adopted by the Company during

the Year.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Eva Lee was appointed as the Company Secretary on 20
February 2020 and responsible for advising the Board on corporate
governance matters and ensuring that the Board policy and
procedures, and the applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. All Directors have access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary to ensure that the Board procedures and all
applicable laws are followed. Moreover, the Company Secretary is
responsible for facilitating communications among Directors as well

as with senior management.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, the Company Secretary has
undertaken more than 15 hours of relevant professional training in

compliance with Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules.

BOARD OF DIRECTOR

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Group,
overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and
performance, evaluating the performance of the Group and
supervising the management. In addition, the Board reserves the
authority to make final decisions for all major matters of the Company,
including approving and monitoring of budgets, dividend payout,
material transaction, preparation and release of financial information,
appointment of Directors. The Board is also responsible for
performing the corporate governance duties set out in Code Provision
D.3.1 of the Code.

The Board had reviewed the compliance of Rules 5.46 to 5.67 of the
GEM Listing Rules and disclosure in this Corporate Governance
Report including the board diversity policy and effectiveness of the
internal control systems. In order to enhance efficiency, the Board
has delegated the day-to-day responsibilities and operations to the
executive Directors and senior management who perform their duties

under the leadership of the chairman of the Company.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board comprises six Directors, including three executive

Directors and three independent non-executive Directors.

Details of their composition by category are as follows:

Executive Directors
Dr. Li Dahong (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona

Ms. Wang Hongyin

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

With the various experience of the executive Directors and
independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”) and having regard
to the nature of the Group’s business, the Company recognises the
benefits of having a Board with well-balanced experience and
qualifications to maintain a sustainable business development of the
Group in the long run. In recognition of the Company’s commitment
to a well-balanced Board, the nomination committee is entrusted to
review the Company’s human resources policy and recruitment

process to ensure the effectiveness of such policy.
The details of Directors and relationship between the board members

are set out in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors

and Senior Management” on pages 13 to 16 of this report.
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the Code, the Board has adopted a board diversity
policy. The Company believes that board diversity is a key element for
the Company to maintain sound corporate governance, realize
sustainable development and achieve strategic objectives. The
Company believes that board diversity enhances decision-making
capability and a diverse board is more effective in dealing with
organizational changes. The Company considers that the concept of
diversity incorporates a number of different aspects, such as
professional experience, business perspectives, skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity and
length of service. For the purpose of implementation of the board

diversity policy, the following objectives were adopted:

Independence: The Board should include a balanced composition of
executive and independent non-executive Directors so that there is a
strong element of independence in the Board. The independent non-
executive Directors shall be of sufficient caliber and stature for their

views to carry weight.

Gender: The Company is committed to maintaining an environment of
respect for people regardless of their gender in all business dealings
and achieving a workplace environment free of harassment and
discrimination on the basis of gender, physical or mental state, race,
nationality, religion, age or family status. The same principle is applied

to the selection of potential candidates for appointment to the Board.

Nationality and ethnicity: To cope with the diversified portfolio of the
Company’s businesses, the Company aspires to having a board of
directors of different nationality or ethnic backgrounds who can
contribute their knowledge and understanding of the environment in

which the Company operates its business.
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Skills and experience: The Board possesses a balance of skills
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
The Directors have a mix of finance, academic and management
backgrounds that taken together provide the Company with

considerable experience in a range of activities.

Apart from the above objectives, the board diversity policy has the
following measurable objectives to comply with the GEM Listing

Rules:

1. at least one third of the members of the Board shall be

independent non-executive Directors;

2. at least three of the members of the Board shall be independent

non-executive Directors; and
3. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related

financial management expertise.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives under board

diversity policy as at 31 March 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS

During the Year, 10 Board meetings and one general meeting were
held. Set out below are the attendance records of all the Directors at
the Company’s board meetings, board committee meetings and

general meetings held during the Year:

Board
Meeting

Ezeed

EELEER

AEEEBTIOREFERAR —RBRAE -
PREFRAERRT2AAAEFGEH - 3
EZEEEGHRBEAGZ HFEHBIIMT -

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Committee Committee Committee General

Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

ENZEE  HHZEE REZEE

L L g3 RRAE

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HEEERY ARHFEERY

Executive Directors: HTES:

Dr. Li Dahong FREET 1010
Ms. Ma Xiaona ezt 10/10
Ms. Wang Hongyin ArRERL 10/10

Independent Non-executive BYFHTES:

Directors:
Mr. Guo Wei BB 10/10
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum WEREE 10110
Mr. Cheung Wai Hung REERE 1010

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

According to Code Provision D.3 of the Code, the Board is
responsible for performing the corporate governance duties of the
Company. The Board has the following duties and responsibilities for

performing the corporate governance duties of the Company:

1. to develop and review the Group’s policies and practices on

corporate governance;
2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional

development of the Directors and senior management of the

Group;
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3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on

compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and the

Directors; and

5. to review the Group’s compliance with the Code and disclosure
in the corporate governance report and in annual report of the

Company.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Pursuant to the Code Provision A.6.5 under Appendix 15 to the GEM
Listing Rules, all Directors should participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and
skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains
informed and relevant. Each Director received induction on the first
occasion of his appointment, so as to ensure that he has appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Group and that
he is sufficiently aware of his responsibilities and obligations under the
GEM Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory

requirements.

During the Year, all Directors participated in continuous professional
development regarding their duties and responsibilities under the
relevant legal and regulatory requirement which included reading
materials in relation to legal or regulatory update and/or attending

training courses.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all the independent non-

executive Directors to be independent.
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST

If a Director has a conflict of interest in relation to a transaction or
proposal to be considered by the Board, such Director is required to
declare his interest and to abstain from voting. The matter is
considered at a Board meeting attended by Directors who have no

material interest in the transaction.

BOARD COMMITTEES

During the Year, the Company had three committees, namely the
Audit Committee, the remuneration committee of the Company (the
“Remuneration Committee”), and the nomination committee of the
Company (the “Nomination Committee”) to assist the Board in
discharging its duties and responsibilities. The committees are
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and are
able to obtain outside independent professional advice in connection
with their duties at the Company’s expenses.

Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the financial
information of the Company, oversee the financial reporting process
and risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
maintain an appropriate relationship with the Company’s auditors and
provide advice and comments to the Board.

The Audit Committee has written terms of reference that sets out its
authorities and duties, which has been published on the websites of

the Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive
Directors. Members of the Audit Committee during the Year and up
to the date of this report is as follows:

Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum (Chairman)

Mr. Guo Wei

Mr. Cheung Wai Hung

Five meetings had been held by the Audit Committee during the Year.

42

M FR

FEEFHEEFER TERNRZIUERTHER
Mm@R - AHESARRMNEMEERE B
MERAKEZEERTRE  AERZTIHFE
BEANGENEZTHFILEH -

EEZEE

RAFE  ARARB=FEZEE - DHlAEZ
ZBg ARAFHEES ((FMEEE]) &
AREREZEBE(RBEEE]))  UHHBES
CERITEBHGIEE RFRETRERANE
IREITE R - 3R EVS A BB 2 SN R AL
BEXER BRAARDRIEE -

BEREES
BERREGZIRRAEREFHARRMBERK
ERAEENMERERIZNA LR EE R AR
ERREG  BARRZZBEREEBERRR
EFeRHEERER -

BERZBe BB ED| HHEBEERE -
I B FIERBER P R AR B -

MERSEE (Z/E)
FBEIELE
SRIBLHES L

RAFEERN  BERLZEGERTAREH -



AEESERBRAT
SE-NCRoREER

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREB®RSE

The Audit Committee has reviewed and discussed with the
management the audited consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2020, the unaudited condensed consolidated
financial statements for the three months ended 30 June 2019, for
the six months ended 30 September 2019 and for the nine months
ended 31 December 2019, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and auditing, risk management and internal
control systems and financial reporting matters. The audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2020 have

been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are reviewing and
supervising the structure, size and composition of the Board,
identifying qualified individuals to become members of the Board,
assessing the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors and making recommendations to the Board on the

appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy setting out the
approach to diversity of members of the Board. The Company
recognises and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members.
It endeavours to ensure that the Board has a balance of skKills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
requirements of the Company’s business. All Board appointments will
continue to be made on a merit basis with due regard for the benefits
of diversity of the Board members. Selection of candidates will be
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited
to gender, age, cultural and educational background, experience
(professional or otherwise), skills and knowledge. The ultimate
decision will be made upon the merits and contribution that the

selected candidates will bring to the Board.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has adopted the following policies for the nomination of

directors.

Selection Criteria

In determining the suitability of a candidate, the Nomination
Committee and the Board shall consider the potential contributions
that a candidate can bring to the Board and/or the Group. The
Nomination Committee would consider a candidate in terms of
quallifications, skills, experience, independence and other factors. The

following shows a non-exhaustive list of selection criteria:

° the candidate’s race, reputation, character and integrity;

° the candidate’s qualifications, skills, knowledge, business
judgment and experience which are relevant to the operations

of the Group;

° the relevant factors set out in the Board Diversity Policy (as

amended from time to time);

Nomination Procedures

The evaluation, recommendation, nomination, selection and
appointment or re-appointment of each proposed Director shall be
assessed and considered by the Nomination Committee and the

Board against the Selection Criteria and the Board Diversity Policy.

In the context of appointment of any proposed candidate to the
Board:

° the Nomination Committee may take such measures that it
considers appropriate in connection with its identification and
evaluation of candidates, including referrals from the Directors,

shareholders, management, advisors of the Company;
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° the Nomination Committee shall identify and ascertain the
character, qualification, knowledge and experience of the
candidate and perform adequate due diligence in respect of

such candidate; and

° the Nomination Committee shall make recommendations by
submitting the candidate’s personal profile to the Board for its

consideration.

The Nomination Committee has written terms of reference that sets
out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Nomination Committee during the Year and up to the

date of this report are as follows:

Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)
Ms. Ma Xiaona
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

For the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting.

Summary of the work of the Nomination Committee during the Year

was as follows:

— To review and monitor the structure, size and composition
(including the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
and make recommendations to the Board regarding any

proposed changes;

— To identify and nominate qualified individuals for appointment as
additional Directors or to fill Board vacancies as and when they
arise. The criteria to be adopted by the Board in considering
each individual shall be their ability to contribute to the effective

carrying out by the Board of its responsibilities; and
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— To make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to
the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors in particular the chairman and the chief

executive officer.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duty of the Remuneration Committee is to formulate
transparent procedures for developing remuneration policies and
compensation packages for the Directors and senior management of
the Group. The Remuneration Committee has adopted the operation
model where it performs an advisory role to the Board, with the Board
retaining the final authority to approve the remuneration packages of

individual executive Directors and senior management.

The Remuneration Committee has written terms of reference that sets
out its authorities and duties, which has been published on the

websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Members of the Remuneration Committee during the Year and up to

the date of this report is as follows:
Mr. Guo Wei (Chairman)

Ms. Ma Xiaona
Mr. Lam Albert Man Sum

Two meetings had been held by the Remuneration Committee during
the Year.

Senior management’s remuneration
Senior management’s remuneration payment of the Group for the
Year falls within the following band:

Number of individuals

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$6,000,000
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the Year, the fees paid/payable to the auditor in respect of the

audit and non-audit services were as follows:

BB AT <&
RAEEN - BN/ AU A BRI
BRI BAMT

Amount (HKS)
Types of services PR 75 28 Bl S£E (BT
Annual audit services FREEZRE 1,200,000
Non-audit services EEZRS -

DIVIDEND POLICY
The dividend policy of the Company is to distribute to its shareholder

the funds surplus to the operating needs, current and future business
development of the Group as determined by the Board. The
Company may declare and pay dividends to the Shareholders subject

to the criteria as set out below.

In accordance with the article of association of the Company and
subject to the relevant laws of the Cayman Islands, the Company in
general meeting may from time to time declare dividends in any
currency to be paid to the Shareholders but no dividend shall be

declared in excess of the amount recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be declared and paid out of the profits of the
Company, realized or unrealized, or from any reserve set aside from
profits which the Board determine is no longer needed. With the
sanction of an ordinary resolution dividends may also be declared and
paid out of share premium account or any other fund or account
which can be authorized for this purpose in accordance with the

relevant laws under the Cayman Islands.
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Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rule, regulations and the
articles of association of the Company, in deciding whether to
propose an dividend payout, the Board will take into account, among
other things, the financial results, the earnings, losses and
distributable reserves, the operations and liquidity requirements, the
debt ratio and possible effect on the credit lines, the capital
requirements, the current and future development plans of the
Company, the interests of the Shareholders, dividends received from
the Company’s subsidiaries and associate companies, and other

factors that the Board considers relevant.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
reserve its sole and absolute right to update, amend, modify and/or
cancel the dividend policy. There can be no assurance that dividends

will be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

ACCOUNTABILITY

The Directors are responsible for preparation of financial statements
which give true and fair view of the state of affairs, the results of
operations and cash flows of the Group in compliance with
accounting standards, the GEM Listing Rules, legal and statutory
requirements in relation to financial reporting. In preparation of the
financial statements for the three months ended 30 June 2019, for
the six months ended 30 September 2019, for the nine months
ended 31 December 2019 and for the year ended 31 March 2020,
the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies and applied
them consistently. The financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020 have been prepared on going concern basis. The
statement of auditor about its reporting responsibilities on the
consolidated financial statements is set out in the Independent

Auditor’s Report.
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The Group requires sufficient funding for its working capital, debt
repayment, further development and planned acquisitions. The Group
currently faces limited financial resources and for the time being its
net current liabilities are in the red, although there are no immediate
concerns for solvency due to the nature of its current liabilities. Failure
to obtain additional funding in a timely fashion however, may
adversely affect the Group’s operation and its development plan. The
Group is now actively engaged in fund raising, talking to several
interested investors/financiers, negotiating and comparing terms and
conditions, and trying to close fund raising soon to significantly
alleviate the current liability risks. At the same time, the Group is in a
final stage to complete a new process plant. Furthermore the Group
is to continue exploring investment opportunities for acquisitions for
quality mining assets. The successful implementation of these
measures would fundamentally improve the Group’s financial position

and address the current liabilities concerns.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Board is overall responsible for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the
Group’s strategic objectives, and ensuring that the Group has
established and maintained appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. The risk management and
internal control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement

or loss.

The Group has conducted an annual review on whether an internal
audit department is required. Given the relatively simple corporate
and operation structure, the Group currently does not have an internal
audit function. Even though the Group does not maintain an internal
audit function, the Board has overall responsibility for evaluating and
determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and establishing and
maintaining appropriate and effective risk management and internal

control systems.

49

- iE
RAER E‘“H\ V{EARRE - 1R
E’\\\Em@jﬁ@ﬁ@’l‘ CERNBEN T mY SR &
J& o SR E/f&HT EISRINES - FIREe Y
REBNEE MEERASERTNTZE - A%
EREGAREELY  HEZRARMABHNRE
E/CRMFETHRE - BRIERKRGAETHA R
& UERTREE - KIBEEERHEER
o [+ N2 B3R IE B I 72 P HT B4R A Y AR 1
PEER o IS AEBEREERRWEEERXE
ENRERS - RNERZEHEEERA L
EARKENMBIALFRRER R ERE

EL ﬁ%IE&W%B%E%\HJL

FEERBARNERETREEERAEERE
é:f

&
BIRREMAENRREE MEE - WIREARSE
BRIV EFEE AR AREE LA FRE
Rt BREERAREERR T RE R (M3E
HER) REEERIEH B FENER - MRERER
El

AR SR RIS IR (MIERE) HRE -

REEEHRE ERTESFETTFE
EH - ENAKEN AR REBREBALEE

ZER BIR RS AR BAE - BEAKEAE
MEBARETRE  EFCERRRETEMETE

== dh =L O "
EHRERIAE

REBENKE B RARER AN ER IEE\&E
B - WHERANR BRI L EREEE MO ER

I K R RRAZ I Z AR



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019/2020

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EREB®RSE

The Audit Committee reviews the risk management and internal
controls that are significant to the Group on an on-going basis. The
Audit Committee would consider the adequacy of resource,
qualifications and experience and training of staff and external advisor
of the Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting

function.

The management of the Group is responsible for designing,
maintaining, implementing and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control system to ensure adequate control in place to

safeguard the Group’s assets and stakeholder’s interest.

The Board performs annual reviews on any significant change of the
business environment and establishes procedures to respond the
risks result from significant change of business environment. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to mitigate

the potential losses of the business.

The Group has engaged an independent professional party (the “IC
Expert”) to carry out internal audit functions by conducting an annual
review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems during the reporting period. The scope of review
included Corporate Governance, Financial Reporting, Sales and
receipt, Purchase and payment, Human resources management
cycle, Treasury management cycles and Information system. I1C
Expert has reported findings and areas for improvement to the
Company. All recommendations from IC Expert have been adopted.
The Group is committed to implementing the suggested improvement
in the coming year and determined to establish and maintain

adequate risk management and internal control processes.
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The Board approved and adopted an inside information policy and
procedures for the handling and dissemination of inside information.
The insider information policy provide the guidelines to the directors,
management and relevant staff (likely possessing the unpublished
inside information) of the Group to ensure that the inside information
of the Group is to be disseminated to the public in equal and timely
manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations. The
procedures include, among others, regularly remind the directors,
management and relevant staff about the compliance with the
securities dealing restrictions as set out in the rules 5.48 to 5.67 of
the GEM Listing Rules and the natification of the regular “Blackout

Period”.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company encourages two-way communications with its
shareholders. Extensive information about the Company’s activities is
provided in our quarterly, interim and annual reports to be sent to the
shareholders. Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to their
shareholdings or the business of the Company are welcomed and will
be dealt with in an informative and timely manner. In order to promote
effective communication, the Company maintains a website on which
financial and other information relating to the Group and its business

are disclosed.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions are proposed at shareholders’ meetings on each
substantial issue, including the election of individual Directors, for
shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions put forward at
shareholders’ meetings will be voted by poll pursuant to the GEM
Listing Rules and the poll results will be published on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company at “www.hkexnews.hk”
and “http.//www.grandtg.com”, respectively, after the relevant

shareholders’ meetings.
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Right to convene extraordinary general meeting

Any one or more shareholder of the Company holding at the date of
deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the Board
fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
shall be in writing and sent by post, together with his/her contact
details, such as postal address, email or fax, to the principal office of
the Company in Hong Kong for the attention of the Company
Secretary.

Right to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders may put forward proposals at general meetings of the
Company by sending the same to the principal office of the Company
in Hong Kong, specifying his/her information, contact details and the
proposal(s) he/she intends to put forward at the general meeting
regarding any specified transaction/business and the supporting

documents.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIYRHEHRES

To the shareholders of Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Grand T G
Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) set out on pages 62 to 183, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure

requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA'’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 1 to the consolidated financial statements
which reveals that the Group incurred a loss of approximately
HK$38,776,000 for the year ended 31 March 2020 and as at 31
March 2020, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$175,300,000. In addition, the Group’s promissory notes, bonds
and convertible bonds of approximately HK$12,500,000,
HK$19,107,000 and HK$21,396,000 respectively are subject to
repayable on demand as disclosed in notes 26, 25 and 27 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively. Based on the current
liquidity position of the Group, the Group might have financial
uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of which
depends upon the Group will be able to successfully achieve the
outcomes as set forth in note 1 to the consolidated financial
statements to meet its overdue financial obligations from time to time.
QOur opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. We have
determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters
to be communicated in our report.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

No.

Key Audit Matter
BRELBE

Impairment assessment of property, plant and
equipment, mining rights related assets and
construction in progress.

M BERRE KBEEEAREERTEIERN
B -

Refer to accounting policies in note 3(i), significant
accounting judgements and estimates in note 4 and
relevant disclosures made in notes 14 and 16 to the
consolidated financial statements.

2RI EFTBE - M4 E KRG 2IE
KAtiat - ARERE MR BmARMEE 14 R161EH 2 48
RAHRER -

As at 31 March 2020, the Group had property, plant
and equipment, mining rights related assets and
construction in progress relating to the gold mining
operation which amounted to approximately
HK$657,679,000, HK$46,578,000 and
HK$48,826,000 respectively, which were allocated
to the cash generating units (“CGU”) of gold mining
operation. The impairment assessment of CGU of
gold mining operation is a key audit matter due to
its significance and judgement involved.
RZZEZZTF=A=+—H  E5EEFSHK
EBEMIE  BENRE  REEEREER
fEE TR 5 B A# 657,679,000 7T * 46,578,000
7T} 48,826,0008 7T OB ET MK ER
ReEFBEM([ReEEESM])  HREEEUR
B RAE - FESRRERR S EE BRER
HMREREREE -

FRREXEE &)

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEZERNIRERRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment

assessment included:
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BEERREMGETZEREFEHRE

Assessing management’s identification of CGU of gold
mining operation based on the Group’s accounting
policies and understanding of the Group’s business;
BE SEEEZSFHRERE ESEEBZ 7B
EREHECRREBRRCELEM 2FR

Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to review the
appropriateness of the value-in-use calculation
methodology adopted by management, the accuracy of the
calculations and the market data used;

ZEGEER B ESRNEEEBMRAZ EHAEES
BERZ@EEMN - fHERERZ TS8R 2 RN

Assessing and challenging the reasonableness of key
assumptions (including mining costs, gold prices and
discount rate) based on the business and industry; and
BEEBRITETHRERFZRZ(BERERKR
HEEREITER) 2B K

Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements.

EHEGEVHRRTAMERBEZEE M -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

No.

Key Audit Matter
BRELBE

Assessment on the impact of current litigation
cases which the Company or its subsidiary is
being the defendant.

it BEARREMBARREPRENEAF
L 7

ok

>

Refer to significant accounting judgements and
estimates in note 4 and relevant disclosure in note
38 to the consolidated financial statements.
2GR E T BMKRM T 4 EXR G5 HIE R b5t R
BitsE 38 HOMH AKX EE o

The Group is involved in certain litigations which the
Company or its subsidiary is being named as
defendant. The directors are of the opinion that a
successful claim made against the Group under
these litigations is remote and the Group has merits
in the defence against these claims, accordingly no
further provision for these litigations is necessary.

BEEERBA BERRNEMBARAKRENET
Rar - BEERR - RIEZFHAR EXRERNR

EOATREMTEMY - B EXERMRZERE
FEBRE  RBARKFHRATIRE-—TREE -

We identified the above matter as a key audit matter
due to the significant judgement made by the
directors in determining the possible outcome and
implications on its financial statements.

EER R EEET ABREZFE  RERES
RETAIREHRNERREYNBRROTZER
HEEHEARHE -
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How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EEZERNIRERRERER

Our audit procedures in relation to the assessment on the
impact of current litigation cases included:
EERHBAFARETEZHET 2 ERETFBHA

Obtaining relevant legal documentations regarding those
litigations from the legal team of the Group;

B EXEEREEEFISE BZERDRNMERIERX
:

Discussing with the management and the Company’s legal
team on their views and seeking collaborative evidence that
applied to substantiate the position of the Company;
HEREN BRANEEERREEERRMN® -

YSKANEE BERFHRNAIEERR

Considering the contingency of such litigations and its
potential financial impact that may have to cast on the
consolidated financial statements;
ZEBBNFLNBAMERE AR SR E M RRELES
BEMBEE

Challenging the basis for the Group’s assessment that
no provision is required for these litigations; and

Bi BESEUBARZSFATEERENTHOMK
R

Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosure as set
out in note 38 to the consolidated financial statements.

Al BRERERS M HRR M I8 E K T 2 SRl -
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OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2019, were audited by another auditor who expressed an
unmodified option on those statements on 27 June 2019.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the Other
Information. The Other Information comprises all the information in the
Group’s annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon (“Other Information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the Other Information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the Other Information and, in doing so,
consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this Other Information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

The director of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

e I|dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT

OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL

STATEMENTS (Continued)

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

e  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the

Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

e  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control

that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and

where applicable, related safeguards.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
BIYRHEHRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

McM (HK) CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number: PO6633
3rd Floor,

Parklane Building,

233 Queen’s Road Central,

Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 30 June 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
mEEER

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L -FTHFE=H=+1—HIFFE

2020 2019
—EC-EFE —ZT—NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KtaF FET FAT
Revenue Woas 6 69,643 163,829
Cost of sales SHE A (51,776) (86,308)
Gross profit E7 17,867 77,521
Other income and expenses, net HEmWAKES - F5E 7 (2,843) 3,663
Selling and distribution expenses HE RO HEMAX (3,360) (4,866)
Administrative expenses THFAX (37,043) (32,695)
Operating results RS (25,379) 43,623
Finance costs BhE KA 8 (13,850) (28,013)
(Loss)/profit before tax BEAT(E18), 5T 9 (39,229) 15,610
Income tax credit/(expense) FrigBige, (M%) 10 453 (7,849)
(Loss)/profit for the year FE (BEB) &7 (38,776) 7,761
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable FE (EE),HAEBER
to:
Equity holders of the Company RAGERFEEA (35,239) 33
Non-controlling interests FEPE R = (3,537) 7,728
(38,776) 7,761
HK Cents HK Cents
4l AL
(Loss)/earnings per share SR (BR) B
Basic HA 13(3) (2.35) —*
Diluted s 13(b) (2.35) >

* Represent amount less than HK$ cents 0.01
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CONSOLDATED STATEMENT OF PROHT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meEaRkEtEEKER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L -FTHFE=H=+1—HIFFE

2020 2019
i —T-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kzt FTERT FAT
(Loss)/profit for the year FE(BB) &5 (38,776) 7,761
Other comprehensive income FEHM2ERE
for the year, net of tax: HIBRBE -
Item that may be reclassified HEJpeE 71825
subsequently to profit or loss ZIHEE
Exchange differences arising from BB A R
translation of financial statements WEMEEXCERERE
of overseas subsidiaries (23,922) (23,984)
Total comprehensive expense FELXHBAXEE
for the year (62,698) (16,223)
Total comprehensive (expense)/ 2 (FX), WAL
income attributable to: RN
Equity holders of the Company RAGIERRFFEA (58,174) (24,903)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R = (4,524) 8,680
(62,698) (16,223)
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A s 3
mE AR R R
As at 31 March 2020 R-—FE-—F&=H=+4+—f
2020 2019
— —T-NF
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Mat F&ET FET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - WEKERE 14 657,679 675,291
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 15 584 -
Mining rights related assets B S E 16 46,578 50,305
Construction in progress EEIR 14 48,826 51,433
753,667 777,029
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Inventories =& 18 8,251 8,158
Promissory notes HOHEE 19 2,000 4,000
Deposits, prepayments and other & ENRUEREM
receivables FENARIR 20 14,044 16,555
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRS EEIER 21 2,141 2,196
26,436 30,909
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Trade and other payables B E SRR R EA
FERTRRIR 23 61,186 31,691
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 555 -
Promissory notes A E g 26 12,500 12,500
Tax payables FEI B8 60,256 63,537
Bonds &5 25 19,107 18,589
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 24 300 1,507
Convertible bonds Al R AR E A 27 21,396 18,655
175,300 146,479
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEEFE (148,864) (115,570)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEERRBEE
LIABILITIES 604,803 661,459
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

= A N
e MR AR R &
As at 31 March 2020 WR-ZE-—ZE#=H=+—H
2020 2019
— —T-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mat FHxT FHET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Trade and other payables ERNBZERR
EfbpEfERIA 23 802 -
Lease liabilities HEeEBE 22 74 -
Interest-bearing borrowings FTEEE 24 364,872 359,230
Deferred tax liabilities EERIARE 36 1,435 1,888
367,183 361,118
NET ASSETS EEFE 237,620 300,341
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXRR A E
Share capital fi& A 28 89,807 89,807
Reserves w1 30 115,064 173,261
Equity attributable to equity holders of AN RIS 58 A 1L
the Company s 204,871 263,068
Non-controlling interests FEIZE AR R = 32,749 37,273
TOTAL EQUITY s 237,620 300,341

The financial statements on pages 62 to 183 were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 30 June 2020 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Li Dahong
£ N
Director

EE
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019/2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREZBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L -FTHFE=H=+1—HIFFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

AARRERE AR
Foreign
Issued currency Share - Convertible Non-
share Share  translation option bonds  Accumulated controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
MeRE  BRE TRRES
2EfTRE  RiEE it il R EiTEB G FERER it
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
Tér Tz TR TR TER Tén Tz TEr  TEx
Asat 1 Aprl 2019 RZE-NENA-H 89807 1842983  (13371) 26,703 12543 (1,695597) 263,068 37,273 300,341
Adjustments on inffial application of B REREBHBREEAE
HKFRS 16 1652 B% = = = = = (23) (23) - (23
Restated balance asat 1 Apri 2019 A=Z-hEMA-RZEE
e 89807 1842983  (13371) 26,703 12543 (1,695,620) 263,045 37,213 300318
Lapse of share options BREXT - - - (26,709 - 26,703 - - -
Loss for the year EERE - - - - - (35239) (35289  (3537)  (38,776)
Other comprehensive expense A2 ERY
Bxchange differences aising from - RREENHBL AN ERR
franslation of financial statements of ~ FEA 7 EHZE
overseas subsidiaries - - (2293 - - - (229%) (987) (23922
Changes for the year EEEg - - (22985 (26,709 - (8536)  (58,174)  (4524)  (62,698)
As at 31 March 2020 RZE-FF=A=1-H 89807 1,842,983  (36,306) - 12543 (1,704,156) 204,871 32,749 237,620
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
REREZBEX

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L -FTHFE=H=+1—HIFFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company
ARAERRE AR

Foreign
Issued currency Share - Convertible Non-
share Share  tranglation option bonds  Accumulated controling
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total  interests Total
NERE BRE ARG
BEARE  RIVER 1 G RE  ZER T SRR @t
HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HKS000 HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000
Tén  TEr  TEx  TEr  TEx TEr TR TR TEn
Asat 1 April 2018 RZF-\§mA-H 89,807 1,842,983 11,565 26,703 12543 (1695630 287,971 28593 316,564
Profit for the year FEER - - - - - 3 3 7728 7761
Other comprehensive (expense)income: e 2 (B%) /A :
Exchange differences arising from RAEENHBARNS
franslation of fnancial statements of ~ BEHELZESEE
overseas subsidliaries - - (24,936) - - - (24930 952 (23984)
Changes for the year FRZ - - (24930) - - 33 (4909 8680 (16229)
As at 31 March 2019 RZF-NFZR=1-H 80807 1842983  (13871) 26,703 12543 (1695597) 263,068 37273 300,341
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #Z - L -FTHFE=H=+1—HIFFE

2020 2019
—EC-EFE —ZT—NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Hiat FTER FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING  XREKZZIBHNHESHE
ACTIVITIES
(Loss)/profit before tax BriAT (&518),Sa A (39,229) 15,610
Adjustments for: PATZIBIEL FHEE -
Depreciation on property, plant and M R NEEU R
equipment and mining rights related BEREEENITE
assets 33,135 34,568
Finance costs & Ak AN 13,850 28,013
Gain on waiver of interest of BB B 8
borrowings 1) (396)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREENTE 565 -
Exchange difference ME 5 - 3
Impairment losses on other receivables — H {th fE U BRIE 8 (B /&5 18 2,438 -
Provisions written back BB ) (1,662) (293)
Bank interest income RITF BN 48 -
Written off of other receivables it 5 E fh pE UK BR 1B - 5
Gain on waiver of former director’s NP RIE S HA R
remuneration - (8,141)
Gain on waiver of other payables N H i FEBRIE S - (1,432)
Impairment losses on promissory notes 74 4, &R EE 18 2,000 -
Operating result before working REBEESEHAHN
capital changes G 11,144 72,937
Changes in inventories FE# 642 10,553
Changes in deposits, prepayments & - BNEIEREA
and other receivables JE Uk B T8 A 2,873 6,432
Changes in trade and other payables FERTE SRR R H A
JE BRI B &) 35,308 (53,878)
Cash generated from operations REXBELE RS 49,967 36,044
Oversea taxation paid BATEINSIE - -
Interest element of lease rentals paid BENES 2R B 37 (93) -
Interest paid BERFE (8) -
Net cash generated from operating BREEEESEE RS FE
activities 49,866 36,044
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 #H#Zx - ZE_-FF=H=—1—HIFFEZ

2020 2019
—ECERF —T-NF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
KtaF FET FET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REZHEEZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and BEWE - WEMEE
equipment (59,281) (114,068)
Expenditure incurred on mining rights ~ IRIEEHBEEEL 2
related assets FsZ (824) (720)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME -  BEREEZ
plant and equipment Frig kI8 - 23
Payment for promissory notes T EH EE = (4,000)
Expenditure incurred on construction in - FEE TI2E A4 7 B X
progress (855) -
Interest received B F 8 48 -
Net cash used in investing activities REEBHFFAREFE (60,912) (118,765)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING METHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings raised REFEGERNE
RIH 37 39,114 95,018
Repayment of borrowings EIEER 37 (26,084) (38,053)
Repayment of convertible bonds BiEnin HX1$% 37 (1,204) (1,204)
Principal element of lease payment HENRZEEEHD 37 (543) -
Net cash from financing activities ME BB FEEE 11,283 55,761
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN ReRREEEER
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 2, CRd) B8 237 (26,960)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April ROAA—BZzHRe kRS
£EIER 2,196 22,377
Effect of foreign exchange rate PR B E) BT
changes, net (292) 6,779
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R=ZA=+—HZBEER
AT 31 MARCH RE%EERAE 21 2,141 2,196

69



Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
Annual Report 2019/2020

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of
1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. Its
principal place of business in Hong Kong is Room A-B, 8th
Floor, Centre Mark Il, 305-313 Queen’s Road Central, Sheung
Wan, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares are listed on GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock

Exchange”).

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Its
subsidiaries (together with the Company collectively referred to
as the “Group” hereinafter) are principally engaged in gold
exploration, mining and mineral processing. Details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 17 to the

consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), which is the functional currency of the Company, with
values rounded to the nearest thousand. The functional currency
of the Group’s operating subsidiary, Tungguan Taizhou Mining

Company Limited (“Taizhou Mining”) is Renminbi (‘RMB”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Going concern assumption

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the Group incurred a loss of
approximately HK$38,776,000 and as at 31 March 2020, the
Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$175,300,000. In contrast, the Group’s promissory notes,
bonds and convertible bonds of approximately HK$12,500,000,
HK$19,107,000 and HK$21,396,000 respectively are subject to
repayable on demand as disclosed in notes 26, 25 and 27 to
the consolidated financial statements respectively. Based on the
current liquidity position of the Group, the Group might have
financial uncertainties which may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. In preparing
these consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the impact of the
current and anticipated future liquidity of the Group. The validity
of the Group to operate as a going concern is dependent upon
the successful outcomes of the Group to (i) attain profitable and
positive cash flows from operations; and (i) renew or extend the
existing borrowings, complete debt financing or obtain new
credit line, at a level sufficient to finance the working capital
requirements and financial obligations of the Group. Having
considered the above scenarios, the directors considered that it
is appropriate to adopt the going concern in preparing these
consolidated financial statements. In order to strengthen the
Group’s capital base and liquidity in the foreseeable future, the

Group has taken the following measures:

e the directors of the Company have been taking various
cost control measures to tighten the costs of operations
and implementing various strategies to enhance the

Group’s revenue;

° negotiating with bankers and lenders to extend the

repayment terms of borrowings; and
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Grand T G Gold Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued)

Going concern assumption (Continued)
e a substantial shareholder of the Company agreed to
provide financial support to the Group to meet its liabilities

as and when they fall due.

Based on the cash flow projections of the Group and having
taken into account the available financial resources of the Group
together with the above measures, the directors have concluded
that the Group is able to continue as a going concern and to
meet their financial liabilities as and when they fall due for the
next twelve months. Should the Group be unable to continue as
a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to the
consolidated financial statements to adjust the value of the
Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any
further liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and liabilities respectively.
The effects of these potential adjustments have not been

reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”), which in collective term includes all applicable Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”)
and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). Significant accounting

policies adopted by the Group are discussed in Note 3 below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MR RMTE

CORPORATE INFORMATION (Continued) 1.
The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 2 below provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting from
initial application of these developments to the extent that they
are relevant to the Group for the current and prior accounting

periods reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HKFRSs 2.

(@) Application of new and revised HKFRSs
The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16 Leases,
and a number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April
2019.

Except for HKFRS 16, none of the developments have had
a material effect on how the Group’s results and financial
position for the current or prior periods have been prepared

or presented.
The Group has not applied any new standard or

